## **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

RICKIE SLAUGHTER,	Appellant,	Supreme Court No. 61991 Electronically Filed Sep 04 2013 12:27	m
VS.		OPENING BRIEFClerk of Supreme Co	ourt
THE STATE OF NEVADA,	Respondent,		

# **OPENING BRIEF**

## WILLIAM H. GAMAGE, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 9024 GAMAGE & GAMAGE 5580 South FT. Apache Ste 110 Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 (702) 386-9529 (702) 382-9529 *Counsel for Appellant SLAUGHTER* 

### **STEVEN WOLFSON**

Clark County District Attorney 200 Lewis Avenue Las Vegas, Nevada 89155

(702) 671-2750 (702) 477-2957 (Facsimile)

Counsel for Respondent

## CATHERINE CORTEZ MASTO, ESQ.

# **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

I. THE PRESENTATION OF IDENTIFICATIONS AT TRIAL WAS HARMFUL ERROR BECAUSE THEY WERE UNRELIABLE AS A RESULT OF AN IMPERMISSIVELY SUGGESTIVE PHOTGRAPHIC LINEUP.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY ALLOWING THE SURVEILLANCE VIDEO INTO EVIDENCE WITHOUT AUTHENTICATION.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT COMMITTED MANIFEST ERROR WHEN IT ALLOWED THE VIDEO INTO EVIDENCE DESPITE THE FACT THAT THE RISK OF CONFUSION OF THE ISSUES, PREJUDICE TO DEFENDANT, AND MISLEADING THE JURY OUTWEIGHED THE PROBATIVE VALUE OF THE VIDEO.

IV. THE STATE COMMITTED NUMEROUS INSTANCES OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT THAT RISE TO THE LEVEL OF REVERSIBLE ERROR.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant's jury trial was May 12, 2011 through May 20, 2011, in Department Three of the District Court of Clark County, Nevada. Prior to trial, Appellant filed a motion to preclude suggestive identifications that was denied. Appellant's counsel objected on two grounds to the admission of a 7-11 tape into evidence at trial, but was overruled by the court and the tape was admitted into evidence. Appellant was convicted on all counts on May 20, 2011 and subsequently filed a number of motions in the hope of obtaining a new trial. Appellant's motions were denied, and sentencing occurred on October 16, 2012. The Judgment of Conviction was filed on October 22, 2012. Appellant was sentenced on fourteen felony counts and was given an additional life sentence for weapons enhancements.

Appellant now appeals from the denial of his motion to preclude suggestive identifications, from the denial of his objection regarding the authenticity of the surveillance video, and from the Judgment of Conviction.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

This case hinges on the identifications of Appellant by witnesses through an impermissibly suggestive photo lineup created by a police officer with the intention of highlighting Appellant relative to the filler photos, a surveillance video that has not been authenticated, and dramatic statements made by the State. Aside from this inappropriate evidence, every link between Appellant and the robbery can be summarized as follows:

• Witnesses described the suspects as two black males (APPELLANT"S INDEX VOLUME I, "AA I," SLAU046); Appellant is black;

- Witnesses reported that the suspects were driving a green Pontiac Grand Am (Id.); Appellant was known to drive his girlfriend's green Ford Taurus;
- Two guns were found in this car. (AA I, SLAU190). A bullet was found in this car that could have been fired from such a gun, but could be fired from many other guns (AA II SLAU411, 141-42).

Because of the minimal untainted evidence in this case, the State cannot prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the totality of these errors did not contribute to the verdict, thus making these trial errors harmful. Therefore, Appellant is entitled to a trial.

#### <u>FACTS</u>

Upon receiving information from a confidential informant implicating Appellant as a perpetrator in this crime, Detective Prieto constructed a photo lineup. (AA I, Transcript of Preliminary Hearing attached to Defendant's Reply to State's Opposition to Motion to Preclude Suggestive Identification, "Prelim," at SLAU189). He testified that when constructing the photo lineups at issue in this case, he chose to use a photo of Slaughter from Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department with filler photos from the North Las Vegas Police Department's photo lab. (Id.). Prieto was responsible for picking out the filler photos in the lineup to match them up to the suspect. (Id.). The photo lineup in dispute contains a picture of Appellant with a white background along with five filler photos that all have blue backgrounds. (AA I, Lineups SLAU00-SLAU04).

Ivan Young was shot in the face during the incident. (AAI, Police Report Attached to Motion to Preclude Suggestive Identification "Police Report," SLAU095). After receiving treatment at the hospital, Young told officers the suspects were two black males, one bald wearing a blue shirt and blue shorts, the other had dreadlocks with a Jamaican accident. (Id.). On June 28, 2004, Young was shown the suggestive lineup at UMC in his hospital bed. (Id. at SLAU110). Young identified Appellant. (Id.).

At the preliminary hearing, Young stated that he had seen Appellant before this incident with a friend of Young's. (AA I, Prelim at SLAU185). Young testified that one suspect was wearing a basketball jersey and the other a blue shirt. (Id.). Young testified that Appellant didn't have dread locks at the time of the robbery, but that the other suspect did. (Id.). He also testified that Appellant had a hat on at the time of the robbery. (Id.).

At trial, Young testified that both suspects were wearing wigs, and that both had Jamaican accents. (AA II, Jury Trial Transcript, May 16, 2011, 49:13, SLAU340). Young recounted being awoken by police to perform the photo lineup when he just wanted to sleep, and agrees that his memory of the lineup is foggy. (Id. at SLAU342). Incredibly, Young also testified that either the officer showing him the pretrial lineup or his wife had to sign his name on the lineup because he "couldn't really see good." (Id.). Young's testimony indicates that he knew Appellant's name before viewing the lineup. (Id. at SLAU345).

At the scene, Jermaun Meeks told officers that while walking up to the front door, the suspects grabbed him by the arm, pulled him into the house, forced him to the floor, and tied him up. (AA I, "Police Report," at SLAU87). He described the suspects as two black males, one wearing a beige suit jacket and the other one either with dreadlocks or wearing a wig. (Id.) Means also told officers that he could not identify the suspects. (Id.). On June 29, 2004, Meeks selected Appellant out of the suggestive photo lineup, stating that "the face just stands out to me." (Id. at SLAU111). Means did not identify Appellant at trial, although his June 29, 2004 identification of Appellant in the photo lineup was presented to the jury. (AA II, Jury Trial Transcript, May 16, 2011, SLAU337).

At the scene, Ryan John told officers that upon walking into the house, the suspects told him to lie on the floor, tied him up, and placed a black jacket over his head. (AA I "Police Report" at SLAU84). He also told officers that he did not remove the black jacket from over his head until the suspects were gone. (Id. at SLAU87). John described the suspects as two black males, one of whom had a Jamaican accent. (Id. at SLAU 86). At this time, he stated that he could not identify the suspects. (Id.).

On June 29, 2004, John identified Appellant out of the suggestive lineup. (Lineup SLAU00-SLAU003). He wrote: "This is the guy that *I think* called me over to Ivan's house and tied me up and shot Ivan." (emphasis added) (Id.).

At the preliminary hearing, John did not remember anything that the men were wearing or any details about the men, saying only that he remembered Appellant's facial features. (AA I, Prelim at SLAU178).

At trial, Ryan John identified Appellant as the suspect in this case nearly seven years after the incident. (AA II, Jury Trial Transcript, May 17, 2011, 65:2, SLAU392). John also testified that Appellant's photo looked different than all of the other photos in the pretrial photo lineup in which Johns identified Appellant. (Id. at 76:23, SLAU394).

During the robbery, Jose Posada was forced to face a wall and tied up. (AA I, "Police Report" at SLAU38). He described the suspects as one black male with braids and one black male with a dark afro. (Id. at SLAU39). He stated one wore a tuxedo shirt. (Id.)

At the suggestive photo lineup, Posada identified Appellant stating "I saw him next to my uncle. This man had a gun." (AA I, Lineup SLAU001-SLAU003).

At the preliminary hearing, Posada identified Appellant and described him wearing a dark green tuxedo shirt and had braids during the robbery. (AA I Prelim at SLAU184-SLAU186). At trial, Posada identified Slaughter seven years after the incident. (AA III Jury Trial Transcript, May 18, 2011, 51:25-52, SLAU435). Posada also testified that he knew that Appellant was the man that was arrested prior to viewing the pretrial photo lineup. (Id. at SLAU 436). Posada acknowledged under oath that Appellant's background color was different from that of the filler photos. (Id.)

Destiny Waddy described two black males, one 5'11 and one 5'8 and she described both as wearing blue and white clothing. (AA I, "Police Report" at SLAU87). Ms. Waddy could not identify a suspect from the lineup. (Id.)

Aaron Dennis described two black males, one wearing a black jacket. Ms. Dennis could not identify a suspect from the lineup. (Id. at SLAU88).

Jennifer Dennis described the suspects as two black males, one 5'10 weighing 170 pounds and the other 5'11 weighing 190 pounds. (Id. at SLAU92). She described one wearing a blue shirt with blue jeans and the other with a red shirt and blue jeans. (Id.)

At trial, the State introduced a videotape into evidence. (AA II, Jury Trial Transcript, May 17, 2011, 30, SLAU384). This tape was played before the jury. (Id.) The tape is a surveillance video from the 7-11 on 3051 E. Charleston in Las Vegas, Nevada from approximately one hour after the robbery. Id. The tape depicts a black man with his face covered entering the store, spending a couple of minutes near the ATM machine, and then leaving. (Id. at SLAU385).

Although the store owner authenticated the time and place of the video, the State never put forth documents from Wells Fargo or the ATM machine to connect the card being used in the video to the robbery. In response to a leading question on direct, Ryan John answered affirmatively that he had made calls to Wells Fargo and found out his card had been used "at a 7-11 just after 8 p.m." (Id. at 61, SLAU391). John thought \$300 was withdrawn during this ATM transaction, but was "not exact." (Id.).

Appellant's trial counsel objected to the introduction of the tape on the grounds that the multiple timestamps were confusing, (Id. at 3:11, SLAU377) and that it "can't be authenticated because it does not show what the State is intending or purports it to show." (Id. at 8:15, SLAU378). During arguments, the State conceded that: "Well, at this moment, I don't necessarily know that we'll put in the physical document from the custodian of records of Wells Fargo." (Id. at 7-8, SLAU378). The district court overruled this objection, declared the video as admissible, and left the weight of the credibility to the jury. (Id. at 16:9, SLAU379).

Despite the State's inability to authenticate the video through witnesses or evidence, they made numerous statements vouching for the authenticity of the video: "In addition there is a 7-Eleven where the credit card was used that's located also on East Charleston and that location should any of you guys know that will be asked during jury selection." (AA II, Jury Trial Transcript, May 12, 2011, 13, SLAU224)

"You'll hear that Ryan John immediately gets on the phone with his card company concerning the robbery...and finds out that at 8:00 o'clock his card was utilized at the 7-11 at 305 East Charleston." (AA II, Jury Trial Transcript, May 16, 2011, 14-16, SLAU331);

"...and Slaughter using that credit card. There will be no question at the end of this case that he's guilty." Id.;

"[w]e know that at about 8:07 pm none other than the defendant comes into the 7-Eleven and he uses that credit card. The proceeds of the robbery he just participated in...." (AA III Jury Trial Transcript, May 20, 2011, at 25, SLAU509);

"He is additionally successful in getting money from Ryan John's Wells Fargo." (Id. at 39-40, SLAU512);

"He went into the 7-11 at 8:07 and used the proceeds of the robbery that he perpetrated on Ryan John." (Id. at 53:20, SLAU516).

## <u>ARGUMENT</u>

## I. THE IDENTIFICATIONS MUST BE EXCLUDED BECAUSE THE PHOTO LINEUP WAS UNNECEESARILY SUGGESTIVE AND THE IDENTIFICATIONS LACK RELIABILITY.

The standard of review of the constitutionality of the pretrial identification procedures is de novo. *United States v. Love*, 746 F.2d 477, 478 (9th Cir.1984).

In reviewing the propriety of a pretrial identification, this court considers "(1) whether the procedure is unnecessarily suggestive, and (2) if so, whether, under all the circumstances, the identification is reliable despite an unnecessarily suggestive identification procedure." *Bias v. State*, 105 Nev. 869, 871, 784 P.2d 963, 964 (1989). A photographic lineup is suggestive if, given the totality of the circumstances, the

"procedure was 'so unduly prejudicial as [fatally to] taint [the defendant's] conviction."" *Cunningham v. State*, 113 Nev. 897, 904, 944 P.2d 261, 265 (1997).

## A. THE USE OF THE UNNECESSARILY SUGGESTIVE PHOTO LINEUP WAS UNCONSTITUTIONAL

Suggestive pretrial identification procedures may be so impermissibly suggestive as to taint subsequent in-court identifications and thereby deny a defendant due process of law. *Love*, 746 F.2d 477, 478. To determine whether a challenged identification procedure is so impermissibly suggestive as to give rise to a substantial likelihood of mistaken identification, the court must examine the totality of the surrounding circumstances. *Simmons v. United States*, 390 U.S. 377, 384, 88 S.Ct. 967, 971 (1968).

In *United States v. Saunders*, the 4th Circuit considered a case with similar facts. 501 F.3d 384, 390 (4th Cir. 2007). The photo lineup in Saunders contained no overhead lighting and a dark background that made his photo stand out considerably compared to the filler photos. *Id.* The Saunders court concluded that differences in background and lighting suggests that one photo was taken at a different time and place from the rest of the photographs. *Id.* As to this point, the court noted that such glaring differences create a substantial risk for the viewer to conclude that the similar pictures were taken together to form a pool or control group, and that one of the pictures stands out is the suspect. *Id.* (citing *US v. Sanchez*, 24 F.3d 1259, 1262-63 (10th Cir. 1994)).

Here, an almost identical scenario is presented as that in *Saunders*. Appellant's image stood out considerably from the other images because of a highlighted background not present in the other photos. The photo of Appellant differed in age and condition as

compared to the filler photos. This gave the witnesses the impression that Appellant was "the man who did it."

Detective Pietro testified that he had control over the lineup. His decision to use photos with different backgrounds was unnecessary because there were booking photos of Appellant from both departments on file. Pietro's choices here can only be viewed as gratuitously and purposely designed to assure a particular outcome.

Ivan Young and Posada both testified that they knew that Appellant was the name of the suspect before their pretrial lineup identifications. The record is silent as to whether Means or John had been told that police had a suspect and his name was Rickie Slaughter. Because the white background gives the impression of newness, at least Young and Posada drew the inference that Rickie Slaughter had been arrested in the last day or two, and, therefore, the new picture had to be that of the perpetrator. The different background in the photo creates the impression that the photo was recently taken, and, therefore, must be a photo of a man that the police have recently arrested for this crime.

There was no emergency need to do the lineup in this matter. When a photo lineup without this glaring background inconsistency was shown to the other four witnesses, none of them identified Appellant. The photo lineup created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. For all of these reasons, the photo lineup in question was unnecessarily suggestive.

### B. THE IDENTIFICATIONS WERE NOT SUFFICIENTLY RELIABLE TO WARRANT ADMISSION

If the Court finds a pretrial procedure impermissibly suggestive, automatic exclusion of identification testimony is not required. *Manson v. Brathwaite*, 432 U.S. 98, 113–14, 97 S.Ct. 2243, 2252–53, (1977); *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188, 198–99, 93 S.Ct. 375, 381–82 (1972). If under the totality of the circumstances the identification is sufficiently reliable, identification testimony may properly be allowed into evidence. *Id*.

A witness's out-of-court photo identification that is found unreliable, and therefore inadmissible on due process grounds, will render his subsequent in-court identification inadmissible. *Simmons*, 390 U.S. at 383-84, 88 S.Ct. 967; *United States v. Smith*, 459 F.3d 1276, 1293-94 (11th Cir.2006); *Amador v. Quarterman*, 458 F.3d 397, 413 (5th Cir.2006). In this circumstance, a witness "is apt to retain in his memory the image of the photograph rather than the person actually seen, reducing the trustworthiness of subsequent ... courtroom identification." *Simmons*, 390 U.S. at 383-84, 88 S.Ct. 967.

To determine whether the identification was sufficiently reliable to warrant admission, the Court weighs the indicia of reliability against the "corrupting effect of the suggestive identification procedure itself." *Brathwaite*, 432 U.S. at 114, 97 S.Ct. at 2253. Several factors which should be considered in evaluating the reliability of both in-court and out-of-court identifications are: (1) the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime; (2) the witness' degree of attention; (3) the accuracy of the witness' prior description of the criminal; (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation; and (5) the length of time between the crime and the confrontation. *Biggers*, 409 U.S. at 199–200, 93 S.Ct. at 382; *United States v. Field*, 625 F.2d 862, 866–67 (9th Cir. 1980).

It is important for this Court to note that the record supports the premise that Appellant was convicted almost solely by the eyewitness identification of three of the six victims: (1) Young "couldn't really see good"; (2) Posada was a child; and (3) John was immediately tied up and had his face covered. A fourth victim, (4) Means made an identification through the lineup but refused to at trial. Appellant submits that criminal law has long recognized the risk of inaccurate eyewitness identification testimony.

A great upsurge in eyewitness memory research began in the early 1970's, and much of this research has revealed a disturbingly high error rate and ever more ways in which eyewitness identifications and recollections are susceptible to error.

Michael R. Leipe, The Case for Expert Testimony About Eyewitness Memory. 1 Psychol.

Pub. Pol'y & L. 909 (1995).

In State v. Long, 721 P.2d 483, 488-490 (Utah 1986), the Utah Supreme Court,

conducted a comprehensive summary of this subject that leads to a firm conclusion:

The literature [referred to *supra* See F. Woocher, Did Your Eyes Deceive You? Expert Psychological Testimony on the Unreliability of Eyewitness Identification, 29 Stan. L. Rev. 969 (1977); J. Bibicoff, Seeing is Believing? The Need for Cautionary Jury Instructions on the Unreliability of Eyewitness Identification Testimony, 11 San Fernando Valley L. Rev. 95 (1983); R. Sanders, Helping the Jury Evaluate Eyewitness Testimony: The Need for Additional Safeguards, 12 Am. J. Crim. Law 189 (1984).] is replete with empirical studies documenting the unreliability of eyewitness identification. See generally P. Wall, Eyewitness Identification in Criminal Cases (1965); E. Loftus, Eyewitness Testimony (1979). There is no significant division of opinion on the issue. The studies all lead inexorably to the conclusion that human perception is inexact and that human memory is both limited and fallible. We therefore have concluded that a more rigorous approach to cautionary instructions than this court has heretofore followed is appropriate. *See State v. Malmrose*, 649 P.2d at 62-66 (Stewart, J., dissenting)...

Some background is necessary. Anyone who stops to consider the matter will recognize that the process of perceiving events and remembering them is not as simple or as certain as turning on a camera and recording everything the camera sees on tape or film for later replay. What we perceive and remember is the result of a much more complex process, one that does not occur without involving the whole person, and one that is profoundly affected by who we are and what we bring to the event of perception. *See* R. Buckhout, Eyewitness Testimony, 15 Jurimetrics J. 171, 179 (1975) (reprinted from 231 Scientific American 23 (Dec. 1974)).

Research on human memory has consistently shown that failures may occur and inaccuracies creep in at any stage of what is broadly referred to as the "memory process." This process includes the acquisition of information, its storage, and its retrieval and communication to others. These stages have all been extensively studied in recent years, and a wide variety of factors influencing each stage have been identified. *See* Loftus, *supra*, at chs. 3-5; Buckhout, *supra*, at 172-81.

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