IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RICKIE SLAUGHTER,

Appellant,

Case No. 61991

Electronically Filed Oct 10 2013 04:05 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

WILLIAM H. GAMAGE, ESQ. Gamage and Gamage Nevada Bar #009024 5580 South Fort Apache, Ste. 110 Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 (702) 386-9529

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

MR. MARCELLO: No.

Thank you.

2 AA 378-79. Just as Appellant's argument was unclear at trial, it is unclear here. Ryan's testimony has nothing to do with the admissibility or authentication of the video. The video is not offered to prove that Appellant took money from Ryan's account at 8:00 p.m. on the day of the crime – that is a reasonable inference that the jury made based on the evidence presented. The tape was offered to show that the person depicted on it went into the 7-Eleven on East Charleston and performed the actions shown on the tape (approaching the ATM and appearing to use it). Any issues of authentication would have required rebuttal evidence which the defense did not present, and as the trial court noted, any discrepancy in the two times on the video was not a question of authenticity but rather one of credibility and weight. <u>Id</u>. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the 7-Eleven video tape evidence.

Ryan's testimony was admissible. Neither Appellant nor defense counsel objected during Ryan's testimony. Id. This Court has held, "failure to object precludes appellate review of the matter unless it rises to the level of plain error."" Mclellan, 124 Nev. at 267, 182 P.3d at 109. Here, Appellant fails to address the plain error standard of review at all, but instead makes irrelevant arguments about other ways the State could have shown the same facts. "In conducting plain error review, [this court] must examine whether there was "error," whether the error was "plain" or clear, and whether the error affected the defendant's substantial rights. Additionally, the burden is on the defendant to show actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." Green v. State, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003). Here, Appellant fails to allege, much less demonstrate, actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice; Appellant also does not dispute that the card was used. Thus, Appellant's claim fails.

Regardless, Ryan's testimony was admissible. Ryan testified that Appellant took his Wells Fargo bank card, and that he gave the correct pin number because Appellant threatened to come back and kill him if it was incorrect. 2 AA 388-96. Ryan had personal knowledge of all of that information and properly testified thereto. NRS 50.025.

Any information obtained from Wells Fargo as to the amount of money and the time used was admissible. Any information from their records was admissible under the same business records exception described above. NRS 51.135. The employee's statement to Ryan was admissible under NRS 51.075 because "its nature and the special circumstances under which it was made offer assurances of accuracy not likely to be enhanced by calling the declarant as a witness"; the employee was merely telling a customer what his banking records reflected, likely his previous few transactions. NRS 51.075. The statement was admissible under NRS 51.085 as a present sense impression of the status of Ryan's account.

Therefore, Ryan could properly testify that his card was used at a 7-Eleven at approximately 8:00 p.m. and that \$300 was removed from his account. 2 AA 388 – 96. Any further connection between the tape and Ryan's testimony was for the jury to make from reasonable inferences; Ryan never asserted that the person on the tape was Appellant or even that Appellant was the one to use his card but merely that it was used at a 7-Eleven at 8:00 p.m. and money was taken. Id. Appellant was only charged with entering the 7-Eleven with the intent to use the card. 1 RA 39-47. Whether he successfully used the card was irrelevant. Appellant is clearly identifiable entering the 7-Eleven near his residence in heavy winter clothing in the middle of the summer, trying to partially conceal his face when he approached the ATM and attempted to use it. See, Security Video, State's Exhibit 112 at trial. Ryan testified that Appellant just stole his ATM card. 2 AA 388-96. Thus, from those two facts alone, sufficient evidence was presented of burglary, actual use of the card is not an element. The district court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the 7-Eleven tape or the testimony of Ryan John, to the extent it was an issue raised.

III. THE PROBATIVE VALUE OF THE VIDEO OUTWEIGHS ANY DANGER OF UNFAIR PREJUDICE, CONFUSION OF THE ISSUES OR MISLEADING OF THE JURY

"The decision to admit or exclude evidence, after balancing the prejudicial effect against the probative value, is within the discretion of the trial judge, and such a decision will not be overturned absent manifest error." Jones v. State, 113 Nev. 454, 466-67, 937 P.2d 55, 63 (1997). This Court looks to see if "the district court manifestly abused or arbitrarily or capriciously exercised its discretion, that is, applied a clearly erroneous interpretation of the law or one not based on reason or contrary to the evidence or established rules of law." <u>State v. Dist. Ct.</u> (<u>Armstrong</u>), 127 Nev. ____, 267 P.3d 777, 783 (2011).

NRS 48.035 provides as follows:

1. Although relevant, evidence is not admissible if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, of confusion of the issues or of misleading the jury.

NRS 48.035. Here, the district court did not abuse its discretion or commit manifest error in admitting the video. The video was relevant because it made the existence of the following facts more probable in the context of the Burglary charge: (1) that someone used Ryan John's bank card at approximately 8:00 p.m. at

the specific 7-Eleven store depicted, (2) that the person was depicted on video for the jury to observe and determine if it was Appellant, and (3) that Ryan John's bank card was stolen in the crime. NRS 48.015.

This Court defines unfair prejudice as follows:

...all evidence against a defendant will on some level "prejudice" (i.e., harm) the defense.... This court has defined "unfair prejudice" under NRS 48.035 as an appeal to "the emotional and sympathetic tendencies of a jury, rather than the jury's intellectual ability to evaluate evidence."

Armstrong, 267 P.3d at 781 (internal citations omitted). Here the video does not invoke any emotional or sympathetic appeal but to the contrary asks the jury merely to analyze in the context of the other evidence whether Appellant is depicted and whether the ATM is used to take money from Ryan John. There was no danger of unfair prejudice. There is also no danger of confusion of the issues; contrary to Appellant's assertions juries are permitted to make reasonable inferences from the evidence. Bridges v. State, 116 Nev. 752, 762, 6 P.3d 1000, 1008 (2000). The district court did not apply a clearly erroneous interpretation of the law to its discretionary decisions here and therefore did not commit manifest error. Armstrong, 267 P.3d at 783.

Further, the State's review of the record does not find that Appellant raised this claim against admission of the tape at trial. 2 AA 377-79. Thus this claim is subject to plain error review. Mclellan, 124 Nev. at 267, 182 P.3d at 109. Again,

Appellant fails to allege, much less demonstrate, actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice. <u>Green</u>, 119 Nev. at545, 80 P.3d at 95. Thus, Appellant's claim fails.

IV. THERE WERE NO INSTANCES OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT; EVEN IF THIS COURT FINDS AN ALLEGED ERROR NONE WARRANT REVERSAL.

This Court reviews prosecutorial misconduct with a two-step process. "First, [the Court] must determine whether the prosecutor's conduct was improper. Second, [only] if the conduct was improper, [the Court] must [then] determine whether the improper conduct warrants reversal." <u>Valdez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008). "If the error is of constitutional dimension, then we apply the <u>Chapman v. California</u> standard and will reverse unless the State demonstrates, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the error did not contribute to the verdict. <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1189, 196 P.3d at 476 (<u>citing</u>, <u>Chapman</u>, 386 U.S. 18, 24, 87 S.Ct. 824 (1967)). Errors not of constitutional dimension are reversed only if the error substantially affects the jury's verdict. <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1189, 196 P.3d at 476.

"When a guilty verdict is free from doubt, even aggravated prosecutorial remarks will not justify reversal. <u>Flanagan v. State</u>, 104 Nev. 105, 107, 754 P.2d 836, 837 (1988) (<u>citing</u>, <u>Yates v. State</u>, 103 Nev. 200, 734 P.2d 1252 (1987); <u>Dearman v. State</u>, 93 Nev. 364, 566 P.2d 407 (1977)). Here, the prosecutors did not commit any acts of prosecutorial misconduct.

A. 7-Eleven Video Comments

Appellant asserts that the prosecutor committed misconduct "related to the 7-Eleven video." <u>See</u> AOB, pg. 26-27. It is unclear which comments relating to the video Appellant is challenging. Again, Appellant makes broad generalizations without any supporting citations to the record. NRAP 28(a)(9)(A). However, assuming they are the six comments referenced on AOB pg. 7, the State responds as follows.

As to comment 1, Jurors are prohibited from disclosing any fact related to the case from their own knowledge. NRS 175.121. "The purpose of voir dire examination is to determine whether a prospective juror can and will render a fair and impartial verdict on the evidence presented and apply the facts, as he or she finds them, to the law given." <u>Leone v. Goodman</u>, 105 Nev. 221, 223, 773 P.2d 342 (1989). As such it was necessary to inquire if any of the jurors had independent knowledge of the 7-Eleven, the rest of the sentence merely provides context as the jury was unaware of the underlying facts. This did not constitute misconduct.

As to comments 2 and 3, "[t]he purpose of the opening statement is to acquaint the jury and the court with the nature of the case. It is proper for the prosecutor to outline his theory of the case and to propose those facts he intends to prove." <u>Garner v. State</u>, 78 Nev. 366, 371, 374 P.2d 525, 528 (1962). A

prosecutor has a duty to refrain from stating facts in opening statement that he/she cannot prove at trial. Lord v. State, 107 Nev. 28, 806 P.2d 548 (1991). If prosecutor overstates in his opening statement what he/she is able to prove at trial, misconduct does not lie unless the prosecutor makes these statements in bad faith. Rice v. State, 113 Nev. 1300, 9489 P.2d 262, 270 (1997). Here, the comments were proper summaries of expected testimony, Appellant does not allege bad faith, and the comments do not constitute misconduct.

As to comments 4, 5, and 6, "[t]he prosecutor ha[s] a right to comment upon the testimony and to ask the jury to draw inferences from the evidence, and has the right to state fully his views as to what the evidence shows." <u>State v. Green</u>, 81 Nev. 173, 176, 400 P.2d 766, 767 (1965)); <u>see also</u>, <u>Bridges</u>, 116 Nev. at 762, 6 P.3d at 1008 (2000). Here, the prosecutor was making the comments in the context of closing argument and commenting on what the evidence showed based on reasonable inferences from the evidence presented; this is not misconduct.

B. Cross-Examination of Ms. Westbrook

Appellant posits that the prosecutor committed misconduct when he asked a witness whether she was recruited by a friend of Appellant to offer testimony on Appellant's behalf. <u>See</u> AOB, pg. 27-28. When considered in context, the question was asked in relation to jail calls made by the Appellant and was used to impeach the witnesses' statements by showing that friends of the Appellant asked

her to lie for him. Whether she actually knew them or not is independent from whether she was asked the question. This question was permissible impeachment. NRS 50.075. Furthermore, the prosecutor did not call the witness a "bitch." Instead the prosecutor repeated a statement made by Jajuan Richards and even emphasized the same by saying "quote" prior to Richards' statement: "Are you telling me that Jajuan Richards didn't come to you to find, **quote**, a bitch to come say the saw Rickie Slaughter at the time of the crime." 3 AA 444 (emphasis added). Further, the judge had already noted that he was not going to require the redaction of language and offensive terms from recordings. 3 AA 424.

The case cited by Appellant is inapplicable; in <u>Knorr v. State</u>, 103 Nev. 604, 607, 748 P.2d 1 (1987) the question concerned improper character evidence by implying an affair with a teenage girl who was actually an adult and the court reversed the conviction due to a combination of the question (objection preserved issue for appeal) and blatant ineffective assistance of counsel throughout the case. Here, the question went to impeachment because the witness was testifying to show that Appellant was with her instead of committing the crime. This was not misconduct.

C. "That alone would make him guilty."

Appellant asserts that the prosecutor committed misconduct when he characterized some of the statements Appellant made in his recorded telephone calls from the jail as constituting consciousness-of-guilt evidence. <u>See</u> AOB, pg. 28. Appellant did not object at trial. 3 AA 538. Therefore, this alleged error is subject to plain error review and Appellant fails to even allege causing "actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477. Appellant's claim fails.

First, Appellant fails to cite any authority in support of this allegation. NRAP 28(a)(9)(A). See AOB, pg. 28. Further, while Appellant alleges a constitutional violation regarding reasonable doubt, the statement in context does not shift the burden:

MR. DIGIACOMO (Closing Argument):

What else do we know; well, as he goes on, now he has to manufacture an alibi, and his first story is you heard in the first jail call, I am home alone playing Play Station.

It is a little bit farther along, not what Monique says, I think maybe J.R. was there. Maybe J.R. is going to alibi me. Then later he decides he needs to get some woman to come in and say she's with him, Monique Westbrook, remember playing that call, I need to alibi myself.

If he had not been doing something wrong at 7:00 o'clock at night, he wouldn't need anybody to come in here and lie for him. That alone would make him guilty.

Then you get to the last phone call, which was from July of 2004, and you have to ask yourself this; he says I just got my discovery, will you help me get a lawyer.

I might go to trial if they are going to keep at 18 to live, but if they offer me a plea of 8 to 9 years, I might take it.

Guilty (sic) [Innocent] people don't, in the first week say, you know I am going to go do the next decade of my life in jail for something I didn't do.

I got to tell Mr. Slaughter this, too, you shoot a guy in the face, you don't just get 10 years. Now you are left with the fact that you have all of this evidence piled up and you wind up with 4 ID's. Notice what he talked about with the 4 ID's.

3 AA 538. The prosecutor is discussed the jail calls made by Appellant and how they demonstrate a consciousness of guilt. He never implied that the State does not have to prove the case beyond a reasonable doubt. This is not misconduct.

Even if this Court were to find misconduct the State can show that the comment did not contribute to the verdict beyond a reasonable doubt. First, there is overwhelming evidence of guilt in this matter. <u>Flanagan</u>, 104 Nev. at 107, 754 P.2d at 837; <u>see</u>, Statement of Facts and Argument Sect. I, <u>supra</u>. Second, the jury received instructions on the proper statutory definition of reasonable doubt (No. 31) and that arguments of counsel are not evidence (No. 33). 1 RA 39-86. Further, this Court has presumed "that juries follow district court orders and instructions." <u>Summers v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 1326, 1334, 148 P.3d 778, 783 (2006). Therefore, if found to be an error, these comments were harmless errors.

D. "I got to tell Defendant this, too"

Defendant claims the prosecutor improperly directed a comment during closing argument at Defendant. See AOB pp. 29-30. Appellant did not object at

trial. 3 AA 538. Therefore, this alleged error is subject to plain error review and Appellant fails to even allege causing "actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477. Appellant's claim fails.

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